2015

**Sean Kendall, Plaintiff/Appellant, v Brett Olsen, Lt. Brian Purvis,  
Joseph Allen Everett, Tom Edmundson, George S. Pregman and  
Salt Lake City Corporation, Defendants/Appellees**

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

The Utah Supreme Court had jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-3-102(3)(j). The Supreme Court transferred this appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Rule 42(a), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. (R.607–08; 617.) Hence, the Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

### **STATEMENT OF ISSUE, STANDARD OF REVIEW, AND PRESERVATION OF ISSUES IN THE TRIAL COURT**

**ISSUE 1:** Do the discriminatory and excessively burdensome attorneys’ fee and costs bond requirement of Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-104 (“the Bond Statute”) and the discriminatory costs undertaking requirement of Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-601 (“the Undertaking Statute”) violate the equal protection, freedom to petition, and due process guarantees of the Utah and United States Constitutions, and the Open Courts Clause of the Utah Constitution, both facially and as applied to Appellant Sean Kendall (“Kendall”)?

**STANDARD OF REVIEW:** A determination regarding the constitutionality of a statute is a question of law to be reviewed for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court. *State v. Drej*, 2010 UT 35, ¶ 9, 233 P.3d 476; *State v. Ainsworth*, 2016 UT App 2, ¶ 5, 365 P.3d 1227.

**PRESERVATION OF ISSUE ON APPEAL:** The issue of the constitutionality—facially and as applied to Kendall—of the two discriminatory, court-access-obstructing bond and undertaking requirements, which call for arbitrary and capricious determinations, without any statutory guidelines or procedures, was at the core of, and raised throughout,

the proceedings in the trial court. (*See, e.g.*, R. 1–2; 5–19; 42–60; 185–86; 188–201; 310; 323–339; 371; 374–379; 386; 426–27; 543–47; 549–51; 621; 639–652; 777–786.)

**CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, AND RULES  
WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE OF THE APPEAL  
OR OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE**

**United States Constitution, First Amendment:**

Congress shall make no law . . . abridging . . . the right of the people . . . to petition the government for a redress of grievances.

**United States Constitution, Fifth Amendment:**

No person shall . . . be deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law....

**United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment, Section 1:**

No state shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States nor shall any state deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws.

**Utah Constitution, Article 1, Section 1:**

All men have the inherent and inalienable right to enjoy and defend their lives and liberties; . . . to . . . protest against wrongs, and petition for redress of grievances ....

**Utah Constitution, Article 1, Section 7:**

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

**Utah Constitution, Article 1, Section 11:**

All courts shall be open and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.

**Utah Constitution, Article 1, Section 24:**

All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation.

**Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-601:**

Actions governed by Utah Rules of Civil Procedure—Undertaking required.

(1) An action brought under this chapter shall be governed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure to the extent that they are consistent with this chapter.

(2) At the time the action is filed, the plaintiff shall file an undertaking in a sum fixed by the court that is:

(a) not less than \$300; and

(b) conditioned upon payment by the plaintiff of taxable costs incurred by the governmental entity in the action if the plaintiff fails to prosecute the action or fails to recover judgment.

**Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-104:**

Actions against officers—Bond required—Costs and Attorney fees.

(1) A person may not file an action against a law enforcement officer acting within the scope of the officer's official duties unless the person has posted a bond in an amount determined by the court.

(2) The bond shall cover all estimated costs and attorney fees the officer may be expected to incur in defending the action, in the event the officer prevails.

(3) The prevailing party shall recover from the losing party all costs and attorney fees allowed by the court.

(4) In the event the plaintiff prevails, the official bond of the officer shall be liable for the plaintiff's costs and attorney fees.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### NATURE OF THE CASE, THE COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS, AND ITS DISPOSITION IN THE TRIAL COURT

#### CONTEXT OF THIS CASE IN UNITED STATES SOCIETY GENERALLY, AND IN THE CIVIL JUSTICE SYSTEM SPECIFICALLY

If it operates with the scales of justice evenly balanced, the judicial system is the best, and probably the only, hope in our nation for fair and equal treatment of people, regardless of economic status, under the law.<sup>1</sup>

If there is to be a semblance of justice that is not subverted by economic status, it must come from the Judicial Branch, because it is seldom to be found in the Legislative and Executive Branches.<sup>2</sup> However, more and more, like the Legislative and Executive

---

<sup>1</sup> The Founders strongly believed that equal application of the law is a prerequisite for a free republic. *See, e.g.*, Thomas Jefferson's assertion that "the poorest laborer stood on equal ground with the wealthiest millionaire, and generally on a more favored one whenever their rights seem to jar." Thomas Jefferson, *Answers to Monsieur de Meusnier's Questions* (1786) (quoted in Glen Greenwald, *With Liberty and Justice for Some—How the Law Is Used to Destroy Equality and Protect the Powerful* ("Greenwald") (2011), at 8. *See also THE FEDERALIST NO. 57*, where James Madison argued that in the absence of equal application of the law, "every government degenerates into tyranny." (Quoted in Greenwald, at 8.)

<sup>2</sup>

Public officials . . . are much more responsive to the privileged than to average citizens and the least affluent. . . .

**Advantage begets additional advantage. . . .**

[G]overnment officials disproportionately respond to business, the wealthy, and the organized and vocal when they design America's domestic and foreign policies.

The bias in government responsiveness toward the affluent is evident not only in Congress but also in national government policy more generally.

Branches in state and federal government, the courts have been complicit in bringing about a two-tiered system of justice—where, for instance, Wall Street fraudsters can escape prison or any other legal accountability for their crimes, while Weldon Angelos, a Utah native convicted for selling small amounts of marijuana three times when he owned, but did not use or threaten anyone with, guns, remains in a penitentiary under a 55-year sentence.

A two-tiered system of justice has developed, where the rich and powerful inside and outside of government can escape accountability for their Republic-destroying contempt for and violation of the U.S. Constitution and domestic laws passed by Congress,<sup>3</sup> while the law is often applied with a vengeance against those without wealth and without power.<sup>4</sup>

---

“American Democracy in an Age of Rising Inequality,” Task Force on Inequality and American Democracy, American Political Science Association (2004), <http://www.apsanet.org/portals/54/Files/Task%20Force%20Reports/taskforcereport.pdf> (last visited March 31, 2016), at 1, 10, 14 (emphasis added).

<sup>3</sup> For instance, there has been no accountability for the powerful people who authorized or ordered torture of people in foreign nations, in violation of numerous international treaties (which are among the “supreme law of the land” under Article VI, Paragraph 2 of the Constitution) and federal criminal law, 18 U.S.C. 2340A, *see, e.g., El-Masri v. United States*, 479 F.3d 296 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2007), and illegal warrantless mass surveillance, in violation of the Fourth Amendment to the Constitution and the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Act, 50 U.S.C. ch. 36. *See, e.g., Clapper v. Amnesty International*, 133 S.Ct. 1138 (2013).

<sup>4</sup> The United States, with the world’s highest incarceration rate, has only 5 percent of the world’s population, yet almost 25 percent of all prisoners in the world. Greenwald at 223. “Class inequalities in incarceration are reflected in the very low educational level of those in prison and jail. . . . State Prisoners average just a tenth grade education and about 70 percent have no high school diploma.” Bruce Western & Becky Pettit, “Incarceration & social inequality,” American Academy of Arts & Sciences (Dædalus, Summer 2010),

The overarching question, societally as well as in this particular case, is whether wealth and power will be permitted to determine one's access to fundamental justice, including access to the courts for the vindication of crucial state constitutional and other legal protections, or will the astounding inequities based on wealth and power be permitted to pervert any sense of equal justice for all?

### **NATURE OF THE CASE**

This appeal challenges the blatant unconstitutionality of Utah Code Ann. §§ 63G-7-601 and 78B-3-104, which place discriminatory, arbitrary, and unreasonable—in some instances insurmountable—burdens on people, with or without substantial financial resources, who seek access to the courts to vindicate their rights under Utah law to hold law enforcement officers accountable for their misconduct.

This case arises out of the tragic, unconscionable killing of Kendall's best friend, his Weimaraner dog Geist, by a Salt Lake City Police officer who was unconstitutionally trespassing during an illegal warrantless search in Kendall's backyard.

### **THE COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS**

Kendall seeks accountability, under the guarantees of the Utah Constitution and other state legal protections—as well as under federal law—for the illegal trespass and killing of Geist. In doing so, Kendall has encountered the arbitrary and discriminatory burdens imposed by Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-601 (the “Undertaking Statute”) and § 78B-

---

<https://www.amacad.org/content/publications/pubContent.aspx?d=808> (last visited March 31, 2016).

3-104 (the “Bond Statute”), which prohibit a prospective plaintiff from accessing the courts without first paying a bond and providing an undertaking in amounts arbitrarily set by the court, without any statutory guidelines or procedures for setting the amounts and without any showing by the Defendants/Appellants (“City and Police Officers”) that the case fell within the category of cases—“frivolous” cases—the Bond Statute was purportedly intended to discourage.

The Undertaking Statute and Bond Statute, which caused a nine-month delay in filing the Complaint under state law for the unconstitutional and otherwise unlawful actions by the City and Police Officers, deprived Kendall of his constitutional rights to due process, equal protection, the right of access to justice through the courts, and the right to petition the government. These are all deprivations that would not be obstacles to (1) plaintiffs suing people other than peace officers and (2) plaintiffs (perhaps only multi-millionaires) for whom a significant bond requirement, to cover all potential fees and costs for all defendant law enforcement officers, would not be a deterrent against pursuing justice under state legal guarantees. The challenged statutes also allow inequitable protections for the narrow classes of “peace officers” (under the Bond Statute) and governmental entities and employees (under the Undertaking Statute) that are not afforded other people or entities.

Kendall appealed from the District Court’s Memorandum Decision (R.543–52) and Order (R. 580–82), which held that the Bond and Undertaking Statutes are constitutional, to the Utah Supreme Court. (R.585-602.) Appellees filed a Motion for Summary Disposition on November 17, 2015. On December 9, 2015, the Supreme Court determined it would not retain this appeal. (R.617.) On December 10, 2015, this Court issued an order

denying Appellees' Motion for Summary Disposition, noting "[t]he issues framed by the motion and response present policy and law issues that are not appropriate for summary disposition."

## **DISPOSITION IN THE TRIAL COURT**

The trial court determined that: (1) the Bond Statute and the Undertaking Statute are constitutional; (R. 549–51.); (2) Kendall met the criteria for impecuniosity in Utah Code Ann. § 78A-2-302 and was therefore not required to file a bond pursuant to the Bond Statute (R. 548–49); and (3) Kendall was required to file an undertaking in the amount of \$300, which amount was arbitrarily selected, without any explanation by the Court, and imposed without any guidance from the Undertaking Statute, other than a statement as to the *minimum* amount for an undertaking (R. 548–49).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### **A. THE TRAGIC AND ILLEGAL KILLING OF GEIST.**

On June 18, 2014, a three year-old child was reported missing from his home located in Salt Lake City, Utah (the "Child's Home"). (R.43.) Joseph Allen Everett, Tom Edmundson and George Pregman, all officers of the Salt Lake City Police Department, were sent to search the Child's Home. (R.43.) The child was, in fact, asleep in the basement of the home, but the officers did not find him. (R.44.) As a result of their failure to locate the child during their searches (if, in fact, they did conduct searches), additional Salt Lake City Police officers were called to conduct a door-to-door search of the area. (R.43.) Brett Olsen ("Olsen") was among the officers who participated in the search. (R.43.)

Sean Kendall lived approximately 1/8 mile from the Child's Home. (R.44.) During the search for the supposedly missing child, Olsen approached Kendall's home. (R.44.) Despite the facts that no one was at home, no consent for a search was provided, Olsen did not have a warrant to search Kendall's home or yard, and there was no reasonable cause to believe there was any nexus whatsoever between Kendall's property and the missing child, Olsen opened the gate leading to Kendall's backyard adjacent to his home ("the curtilage"), entered the curtilage, and proceeded to conduct an invasive search of the backyard and a shed located there. (R.44; 66-67.) Upon entering the yard, Olsen was approached by Kendall's beloved 2 1/3 year-old Weimaraner dog Geist, who, doing what dogs do, ran toward Olsen and barked. (R.44; 67.) Olsen outrageously and unnecessarily drew his gun and fired two rounds, killing Geist. (R.44; 67.)

**B. KENDALL FILED THIS DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION BECAUSE OF THE ARBITRARINESS OF THE PROCESS INVOLVED IN SETTING THE AMOUNT OF THE UNDERTAKING AND BOND, THE UNCONSTITUTIONAL TAKING REQUIRED BY THE BOND AND UNDERTAKING STATUTES, THE DISCRIMINATORY IMPACT ON KENDALL AND OTHERS SEEKING JUSTICE IN THE COURTS AGAINST LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS FOR THEIR WRONG-DOING, AND BECAUSE OF THE PROSPECT THAT ACCESS TO THE COURTS WOULD BE UNJUSTLY DELAYED, IMPERMISSIBLY BURDENED, AND PERHAPS DENIED BECAUSE OF THE INEQUITABLE UNDERTAKING AND BOND STATUTES.**

Kendall served an Amended Notice of Claim on Salt Lake City Corporation and the individual defendants pursuant to another special-interest, discriminatory statute, § 63G-7-401, on January 26, 2015. (R. 21-34.) That same day, Kendall filed a complaint in the Third District Court seeking a declaratory judgment that, inter alia, the Bond and

Undertaking Statutes violate Kendall’s and other plaintiffs’ constitutional rights to due process, equal protection, access to the courts, and right to petition the government.<sup>5</sup> (R.1–19.)

Kendall filed a Motion for Summary Judgment seeking a declaration that the Bond and Undertaking Statutes are unconstitutional on their face and as applied to Kendall. (R.185-201.) Kendall submitted affidavits and live testimony from two attorneys experienced in civil rights lawsuits, Randall K. Edwards and Robert Sykes, showing that the amount of attorney fees and costs defendants could incur in this action is far more than Kendall could pay and that any attempt to predict the amount of future fees and costs would require “pure conjecture and speculation.” (R.226-33; 720–28; 734–39.) He also presented evidence, by means of affidavits and live testimony, from two insurance agents, as well as personal testimony, that he would be unable to secure a bond for that amount based on his income and assets. (R.235–45; 660–85; 711–20.)

The trial court held an evidentiary hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment and a motion to strike the affidavit of legal counsel for the City and Police Officers on September 15, 2015. (R.621-815.)

C. **THE TRIAL COURT ISSUED AN ERRONEOUS RULING UPHOLDING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF THE BOND AND UNDERTAKING STATUTES.**

---

<sup>5</sup> Subsequent to the ruling in this Declaratory Judgment action, in November 2015 Kendall filed a second action alleging that defendants violated his constitutional rights by conducting a warrantless search of his backyard and killing Geist, and also alleging a variety of tort claims, including trespass, conversion, negligence and intentional infliction of emotional distress. Third Dist. Ct. Civ. No. 150907410 (Blanch, J.). That action was subsequently removed to the United States District Court for the District of Utah, where it currently is pending. (Case No. 2:15-cv-00862).

The trial court ruled on the Motion for Summary Judgment on September 21, 2015. (R.592-600.) The trial court never provided any explanation as to how it set the amount of the undertaking but held that Kendall had sufficient funds to cover an undertaking of \$300, which the court ordered. (R.598.)

Curiously, the trial court failed to determine the amount of “estimated costs and attorney fees the officer[s] may be expected to incur in defending the action,” as required by Utah Code § 78B-3-104, yet found Kendall to be “impecunious.” (R. 598.) The trial court failed to explain what it meant by “impecunious” in the context of what amount would otherwise be required to be posted as a bond. Determining the amount of estimated fees and costs is a necessary precondition to finding that a plaintiff cannot afford to pay that amount under Utah Code Ann. § 78A-2-302(2).

The court erroneously upheld the constitutionality of the Bond and Undertaking Statutes, although the statutes had delayed Kendall nine months in pursuing his substantive claims against the City and Police Officers and put him through extensive, time-consuming, costly, and anxiety-laden litigation (R. 681–685) in a patently discriminatory and oppressive manner.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Before a person claiming injury because of the unlawful conduct of a law enforcement officer can gain access to the courts for the vindication of rights and protections under the Utah Constitution and other state laws, the potential plaintiff must first file a bond in the amount a court estimates to be the costs and attorney fees the officer

“may be expected” to incur in the action. Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-104. Another statute requires that all those seeking recovery in a civil action against a governmental entity or employee must file “an undertaking” “conditioned upon payment by the plaintiff of taxable costs incurred by the governmental entity . . . if the plaintiff fails to prosecute the action or fails to recover judgment.” Utah Code Ann. § 63G-7-601.

The bond requirement is imposed on only those seeking justice under state law for injuries caused by police misconduct. Plaintiffs suing any other persons or entities, or those who invoke the protections of only federal law, are not required to post such a bond. Likewise, only law enforcement officers enjoy the unjust protections afforded them from the discriminatory burdens imposed on those who seek to file civil claims against them.

These egregiously discriminatory statutes provide no due process standard for the ascertainment of the bond and undertaking amounts, and no procedure for determining (1) if the particular case or prospective plaintiff falls within the category of cases or plaintiffs of reasonable concern to the legislature in passing the statutes; (2) the reasonableness of the amount of the bond and/or undertaking; or (3) the extent and nature of the burden imposed on the prospective plaintiff by the bond or undertaking requirements.

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