2015

**Sean Kendall, Plaintiff/Appellant, v Brett Olsen, Lt. Brian Purvis,
Joseph Allen Everett, Tom Edmundson, George S. Pregman and
Salt Lake City Corporation, Defendants/Appellees**

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I. THIS APPEAL IS MOOT AND KENDALL LACKS STANDING TO CHALLENGE THE STATUTES AT ISSUE.

The recall of this case by the Supreme Court does not create a “material difference” in the arguments presented to the Court. This Court’s Order on Supplemental Briefing states a supplemental brief should only be submitted “if the posture before the Supreme Court creates a material difference in the argument presented” As discussed at length in the City Defendants’¹ Appellee Brief, the Court should decline to rule on the merits of this appeal because the issues raised are moot. *See* Appellee Br. at 12-14. Kendall also does not have standing to challenge the constitutionality of the statutes. The Supreme Court’s recall of this case does not remedy these deficiencies and the appeal should be dismissed.

II. THE PRINCIPLES OF STARE DECISIS SHOW THE HOLDING IN ZAMORA SHOULD BE FOLLOWED.

To the extent the Court elects to consider the merits of this appeal, the Court should

¹ Defendants/Appellees Brett Olsen, Brian Purvis, Joseph Allen Everett, Tom Edmundson, George Pregman, and Salt Lake City Corporation are referred to collectively as the City Defendants.

not depart from the conclusion it reached in its prior decisions that the bond statute does not violate constitutional rights on its face. “Stare decisis is ‘a cornerstone of Anglo-American jurisprudence.’” *Bank of Am. v. Adamson*, 2017 UT 2, ¶¶ 9-10, No. 20140861, 2017 WL 117356, at * 2 (Utah 2017)(quoting *State v. Guard*, 2015 UT 96, ¶ 33, 371 P.3d 1). “Any party asking a court to overturn prior precedent has a substantial burden of persuasion.” *ASC Utah, Inc. v. Wolf Mountain Resorts, L.C.*, 2010 UT 65, ¶ 23, 245 P.3d 184 (quotation marks omitted). Thus, “[a] court will follow the rule of law which it has established in earlier cases, unless clearly convinced that the rule was originally erroneous or is no longer sound because of changing conditions and that more good than harm will come by departing from precedent.” *Id.* (citations and quotation marks omitted).

In *Zamora* this Court concluded the bond statute is constitutional as applied in usual and ordinary circumstances. It recognized that the statute could operate to restrict access to the courts if applied to an individual that is impecunious, but found the statute constitutional because the language of the statute permits district courts flexibility in setting the amount of the bond to ensure individuals that are impecunious are not denied access to the courts. The Court affirmed its holding in *Synder*. The conclusion the Court reached is correct and Kendall has not shown that changing conditions warrant a departure from that conclusion.

A. The Conclusion the Court Reached in *Zamora* is Correct.

1. Zamora was Correctly Decided because the Statute does not Abrogate a Legal Remedy.

The conclusion the Court reached in *Zamora* is correct because the bond statute does

not eliminate a legal remedy. A necessary pre-requisite to every open courts challenge is that the statute at issue abrogate a legal remedy. *See e.g., Tindley, et al. v. Salt Lake City Sch. Dist.*, 2005 UT 30, ¶ 12-26, 116 P.3d 295.² A statute abrogates a legal remedy if it “annul[s], cancel[s], repeal[s] or destroy[s]” a right to recovery. *Burgandy v. State Dep’t of Human Serv.*, 1999 UT App 208, ¶ 16, 983 P.2d 586 (citing *Black’s Law Dictionary* 8 (5th ed.1979), for its definition of “abrogate” and finding statute at issue did not violate open courts provision because it did not abrogate a claim). If no claim is abrogated, no violation of the open courts provision can be shown. *Tindley*, 2005 UT 30, ¶ 12-26 (finding statute did not violate open courts provision because it did not abrogate a claim). The bond statute at issue in *Zamora* and this case is an attorney’s fees provision that imposes a bond requirement to ensure collection of fees and costs, if awarded. It does not eliminate a legal remedy and, thus, does not violate the open courts provision.³

This conclusion is consistent with other decisions of this Court that find similar statutes do not violate the open courts provision on their face. For example, in *Jensen v. State Tax Comm’n*, 835 P.2d 965, 969 (Utah 1992), this Court considered a challenge to a statute that required taxpayers to deposit the full amount of assessed taxes, penalties, and

² *See also, Wood v. Univ. of Utah Med. Ctr.*, 2002 UT 134, ¶ 15, 67 P.3d 436 (stating “the *Berry* test begins with the presumption that a legal remedy was abolished”).

³ The fact *Zamora* was decided before the landmark decision in *Berry*, which sets forth the two-part test used to determine if a statute that abrogates a claim survives constitutional muster does not affect the correctness of the Court’s conclusion. Courts only engage in a *Berry* analysis if the statute abrogates a claim. *Burgandy v. State Dep’t of Human Serv.*, 1999 UT App 208, ¶ 16, 983 P.2d 586 (stating *Berry* established a two-part test for analyzing open courts questions, but the “test applies only when a right is abrogated”); *Wood*, 2002 UT 134, ¶ 15 (stating “the *Berry* test begins with the presumption that a legal remedy was abolished”).

interest with the Tax Commission before seeking appellate review. The Court found that the statute was constitutional on its face, but it could operate to bar access to courts as applied to the facts of a particular case. *Id.* In that case, the appellants had failed to deposit the \$340,000 they were deemed to owe in taxes, penalties and past due interest before bringing their appeal challenging that determination. *Id.* at 968-69. The Court excused the appellants from compliance with the statutory deposit requirement because the appellants did not have the funds and it would have been unconstitutional to impose the deposit requirement in that case. *Id.* at 969. However, the Court made clear that the statute was not unconstitutional on its face and that if a taxpayer could meet the deposit requirement, they were required to do so. *Id.* (stating “the statutory requirement is not unconstitutional in all cases. When a taxpayer is able to meet the requirement, the deposit must be paid”).

Like the Court in *Jensen*, the Court in *Zamora* found the bond statute constitutional on its face, but that it could operate to prevent access to the courts if applied to an individual that was unable to afford the bond. *Zamora*, 635 P.2d at 80. The Court found that this concern is resolved by the fact that courts have the ability to conduct preliminary procedures to determine whether a plaintiff is impecunious and able to afford the bond and the language of the statute contemplates such flexibility. *Id.* at 80-81. The Court’s conclusion is consistent with several canons of statutory construction. For example, statutes should be read in harmony and not in conflict with other relevant statutory provisions.⁴ In *Zamora*, the Court read the language of the bond statute in conjunction

⁴ *Foutz v. City of S. Jordan*, 2004 UT 75, ¶ 11, 100 P.3d 1171 (“We read the plain language of the statute as a whole, and interpret its provisions in harmony with other

with other statutory provisions that give courts the ability to hold preliminary procedures to determine if a plaintiff is impecunious and can afford a statutorily imposed fee. *Id.* at 80-82. The Court’s conclusion is also consistent with the principles of statutory construction that direct courts to interpret statutes to avoid absurd results⁵ and to presume statutes are constitutional and to resolve any doubts in favor of constitutionality.⁶

Finally, the Court may disregard the claim that the bond statute is unconstitutional on its face because it discourages people that are not impecunious from bringing claims

statutes in the same chapter and related chapters.”); *Anderson v. Bell*, 2010 UT 47, ¶ 9, 234 P.3d 1147, 1150 (“[O]ur plain language analysis is not so limited that we only inquire into individual words and subsections in isolation; our interpretation of a statute requires that each part or section be construed in connection with every other part or section so as to produce a harmonious whole. Moreover, the purpose of the statute has an influence on the plain meaning of a statute.”) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

⁵ *State ex rel. Z.C.*, 2007 UT 54, ¶ 11, 165 P.3d 1206 (stating a “well-settled caveat to the plain meaning rule states that a court should not follow the literal language of a statute if its plain meaning works an absurd result”) (citations and quotation marks omitted); *Marion Energy, Inc. v. KFJ Ranch P’ship*, 2011 UT 50, ¶ 70 n.23, 267 P.3d 863, 879 n.23 (“When statutory language . . . presents the court with two alternative readings, we prefer the reading that avoids absurd results.”) (citation and quotation marks omitted).

⁶ *Tindley*, 2005 UT 30, ¶ 11 (stating “the challenged statute is presumed constitutional, and we resolve any reasonable doubts in favor of constitutionality”); *State v. Angilau*, 2011 UT 3, ¶ 7, 245 P.3d 745 (stating the Court is “guided by the well-settled proposition that all statutes are presumed to be constitutional and the party challenging a statute bears the burden of proving its invalidity”).

Kendall’s contention that this principle of statutory construction does not apply when a party challenges a statute under the open courts provision is incorrect. The authority Kendall relies on has been superseded by more recent majority decisions of this Court. See e.g., *Tindley*, 2005 UT 30, ¶ 11 (stating in the context of an open courts challenge that the statute “is presumed constitutional, and we resolve any reasonable doubts in favor of constitutionality”); *Judd v. Drezga*, 2004 UT 91, ¶ 11, 103 P.3d 135 (where the majority recognized “an obligation of deference to legislative judgments in a *Berry* review” and stated that “to the extent this differs from our prior application of *Berry*, those prior applications are disavowed”); *Id.* ¶ 42 (C.J. Durham dissenting) (noting the majority afforded a presumption of validity to the statute in considering the appellant’s open courts challenge, disavowing the holding in *Wood* that Kendall relies on).

because of the financial risks involved.⁷ This does not show an elimination of a legal remedy. There are financial risks and obligations associated with engaging in any litigation, including costs of discovery, expert fees, and payment of an attorney to pursue the claim. In some cases these financial risks and obligations also include a statutory or contractual award of attorney fees to the prevailing party⁸ and in all cases they include an award of costs to the prevailing party.⁹ Whenever a person decides to pursue a legal claim they necessarily assume these financial obligations. The fact that pursuing litigation necessarily requires the expenditure of funds and the risk of an adverse judgment does not

⁷ See Kendall's Suppl. Br., at 6-7 & 10.

⁸ See e.g., Utah Code § 63G-20-204 (awarding attorney's fees to prevailing party in an action brought against government entity relating to the provisions of the Religious Protections in Relation to Marriage, Family, or Sexuality Act); Utah Code § 11-39-106 (awarding attorneys' fees to the prevailing party in an action brought against a local entity to enforce the provision of the Act on Building Improvements and Public Works Projects); Utah Code § 78B-5-826 (awarding costs and attorneys' fees to prevailing party when the provisions of a promissory note, written contract, or other writing allow at least one party to recover attorneys' fees); Utah Code § 78b-11-126 (awarding attorneys' fees to the prevailing party in an action brought under Utah Uniform Arbitration Act); Utah Code § 30-3-3 (stating "court may order a party to pay the costs, attorney fees, and witness fees, including expert witness fees, of the other party to enable the other party to prosecute or defend the action" in actions to establish an order of custody, parent-time, child support, alimony, or division of property in a domestic case); Utah Code § 57-16-8 (awarding attorneys' fees to the prevailing party in eviction proceedings brought under the Mobile Home Park Residency Act); 28 U.S.C. § 1988 (permitting award of attorneys' fees to the prevailing party in an action brought pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1983); *Thorpe v. Ancell*, 367 F. App'x 914, 924 (10th Cir. 2010) (affirming the lower court's award of attorneys' fees to police officers in § 1983 case); *United States v. Hyundai Merch. Marine Co.*, 172 F.3d 1187, 1192 (9th Cir. 1999) (applying the Oil Pollution Act to permit the government to recover attorneys' fees); *United States v. Chapman*, 146 F.3d 1166, 1175 (9th Cir. 1998) (interpreting CERCLA to permit the government, as the prevailing party, to recover attorneys' fees).

⁹ UTAH RULE CIV. P. 54(d)(1) (awarding costs other than attorney's fees to prevailing party, unless a rule or statute specifically provides otherwise); FED. R. CIV. P. 54(d)(1) (awarding costs to the prevailing party on the same grounds as the state rule)

show an abrogation of a legal remedy.¹⁰ Kendall has not shown the Court's holding in *Zamora* was clearly erroneous¹¹ and the Court should not depart from the conclusion it reached in that case that the bond statute is constitutional and does not violate the open courts clause on its face.

2. *Zamora was Correctly Decided because the Bond Statute does not Violate Due Process.*

Kendall argues *Zamora* was incorrectly decided because it does not discuss whether the statute violates due process. This argument is not compelling. The *Zamora* decision does not contain any specific discussion of whether the bond statute violates due process because the plaintiff did not challenge the statute on those grounds.¹² But this does not show that the conclusion the Court reached in *Zamora* is wrong. As set forth at length in the City Defendants' Appellee Brief, neither the bond nor the undertaking statute violate

¹⁰ Kendall's citation to choice quotes from fact witnesses he called at an evidentiary hearing set to determine if he was impecunious and required to pay a bond does not show the bond or undertaking statutes abrogate a claim. See Kendall's Suppl. Br., at 6, n.6. Whether a statute abrogates a claim is a question of law. See, e.g., *Tindley*, 2005 UT 30, ¶¶12-26; *Wood*, 2002 UT 134, ¶¶9-15. It is the role of this Court, not fact witnesses at an evidentiary hearing, to resolve that question.

¹¹ *Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc.*, 134 S. Ct. 2398, 2407 (2014) (citing *Dickerson v. United States*, 530 U.S. 428, 443 (2000) ("Before overturning a long-settled precedent, however, we require 'special justification,' not just an argument that the precedent was wrongly decided."); *Bank of Am*, 2017 WL 117356, at *2-3 (declining to depart from prior precedent where plaintiff did not mention the applicable standard, and failed to offer an arguments to explain why the Court's decision was either originally erroneous or no longer sound); *ASC Utah*, 2010 UT 65, ¶ 24 (recognizing the plaintiff was not alleging the Court's decision was "no longer sound because of changing conditions, but "simply that the rule was originally wrong and should be abandoned" and finding the plaintiff did not satisfy his burden of persuasion).

¹² Notably, the decision in *Zamora* is instructive to the due process analysis because it identifies the purpose of the bond statute and shows that it is rationally related to a legitimate legislative purpose.

due process because the statutes are reasonably related to a proper legislative purpose¹³ and they satisfy the notice and hearing requirements of a procedural due process analysis. Rather than repeat arguments on issues that have been fully briefed, the City Defendants refer the Court to their Appellee Brief for further discussion on this point.

B. Kendall has not Shown Changing Conditions Warrant a Departure from this Court's Holding in *Zamora*.

Kendall has not shown that this Court's holding in *Zamora* that the bond statute is constitutional is no longer sound because of changing conditions. The bond statute was first passed in 1951. *See* 1951 Ch. 58, § 1, enacting Utah Code § 104-11-16 (1951) (first version of the bond statute). As set forth in *Zamora*, the statute was passed in recognition of the unique role of police officers in our society and the reality that this role exposes them to a greater risk of frivolous lawsuits:

[P]eace officers are in an especially hazardous calling rendering a service essential to public safety and welfare. While it is the privilege of most of us to steer clear of situations where there is violence and danger, it is the sworn duty of peace officers to go into such situations. Without extenuating thereon, this exposes them to the possibility of becoming involved therein and of incurring animosities of those engaged in such troubles, with the consequent risks of lawsuits which may emanate therefrom.

Because of what has just been said, we see nothing inherently unreasonable

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